IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL FLOURNOY,)	
Petitioner,)	JUL 17 1987 C
vs.	CASE NO. 70,713
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL NO. BI 200 Clerk
Respondent.)	V

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

J. CRAIG WILLIAMS
Williams and Stapp, P.A.
211 Liberty Street, Suite One
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
(904) 353-3631

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner was arrested on April 23, 1985, after the execution of a search warrant on a dwelling (R.1). On May 13, 1985, a two count information was filed charging trafficking in heroin and possession of cocaine (R.10). On May 23, 1985, a Motion to Compel Identity of the confidential informant was filed (R.27). On May 29, 1985, the Court refused to grant an evidentiary hearing and denied the Motion (R.60). On June 21, 1985, an Amended Motion to Compel Identity of the confidential informant was filed with attachments (R.70-82). On June 26, 1985, a Motion for Disclosure of the informant's whereabouts was filed (R.88). An Order was entered denying both motions on June 26, 1985 (R. 89,90).

On July 30, 1985, a Motion to Suppress oral statements of the Petitioner was filed (R.99). A Motion in Limine to exclude reference to firearms found during the search was filed on August 2, 1985 (R.101). A second Amended Motion to Compel Identity of the Confidential Informant was filed on August 2, 1985 (R. 102-123). An Order was entered denying both Motions on August 5, 1985, (R. 124,125).

The case proceeded to trial on August 8, 1985, through August 9, 1985. On August 8, 1985, an Order was entered denying the Motion to Suppress oral statements (R. 135). A jury verdict was returned on August 9, 1985. As to count one, the Petitioner was found guilty of the lesser included offense of attempted trafficking. As to count two, the Petitioner was found guilty of possession of cocaine (R. 142,143).

On August 14, 1985, a Motion for New Trial was filed (R. 144).

An Order denying the Motion for New Trial was entered on August 27,

1985 (R. 148). The Court sentenced the Petitioner to ten years on count one and five years on count two to run concurrently on August 27, 1985, as well as entered a statement for reasons for departure from the guideline recommended sentence of zero to twelve months (R. 151). The Petitioner was adjudged insolvent for costs on Appeal and a Notice of Appeal was filed on August 29, 1985 (R. 163).

An appeal to the First District Court of Appeals followed. The District Court in an en banc opinion affirmed the convictions but reversed the sentence. Finding the trial court had relied on both valid and invalid reasons for departure and certified the following question:

May the quantity of drugs involved in a crime be a proper reason to support departure from the sentencing guidelines?

On June 15, 1987 the Petitioner filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction. This Court accepted jurisdiction and this brief on the merits follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 23, 1985, at approximately 2:45 p.m., T.D. Bean, a vice officer with the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office and other officers executed a search warrant at 1571 West 32nd Street, Jacksonville, Florida (T. 164). Detective Bean and Detective E.W. McNeal approached the front door of the duplex structure with a crowbar, their intent being to pry the door open, if no answer were received (T. 165). Detective Bean knocked and indicated "Police, we have a search warrant. Open the door" (T. 165). Upon receiving no response, he began to pry the door open, when he observed two black females and a black male run out of the bedroom towards the rear of the apartment (T. 165) The two black females stopped in the kitchen area and the black male proceeded out the back door (T. 166). When Detective Bean entered the backyard, he saw the black male standing with his hands in his pockets (T. 167). Detective Bean and three other detectives then escorted the Petitioner back into the apartment. At this time, Detective Bean observed two or three people doing some type of construction work (T. 168).

Detective Bean then asked the Petitioner if he lived there, allegedly for purposes of reading the search warrant (T. 169). The Petitioner allegedly replied "yes". At the time, the suspect was detained, Detectives D.P. Smith, W.J. Mooneyham and Wayne McNeal were present (T. 170). Detective McNeal had a crowbar in his hand (T. 170). Detectives Smith and Mooneyham may have had their weapons drawn (T. 171). The Petitioner was physically restrained and transported inside (T. 171). The Petitioner was not free to leave and could not have walked off or left (T. 171). At the time Detective

Bean executed the warrant, he was looking for an unknown black male, and according to his testimony, the Petitioner was the only black male present (T. 171). At the time of his seizure by Detective Bean, he was considered a suspect by Detective Bean and would not have been allowed to leave until the apartment was searched (T. 172). He was physically escorted by Detective Bean back through the kitchen. down the hallway, and into the living room (T. 172). While in the living room, he was asked whether he lived there and his response was to Detective Bean's question and was not volunteered (T. 172). Detective Bean testified that he considered the fact that a person who lived in a residence, and drugs were found there, to be a circumstance indicating guilt (T. 173). He indicated that an affirmative response to his question regarding residency would have been probable cause for arrest (T. 173). No effort was made to advise the Petitioner of his rights prior to questioning (T. 173). Other detectives were in the immediate vicinity (T. 173). Over the Petitioner's objection, the statement was introduced to the jury (T. 178).

During the execution of the search warrant, Detective Bean observed a white powder along with several straws on a nightstand (T. 181). He testified the straws are commonly used to inhale drugs (T. 183). A 30.06 rifle was found on the bed along with a tan suitcase (T. 184). The suitcase was opened and an airline ticket with the name Flournoy, cash, and twenty-two packets of heroin were found inside a gray attached case contained in the suitcase (T. 185). The airline tickets were on top of the attache case (T. 185). A second ticket bearing the name of Harry Lewis and two boarding passes

were found. Ironically, the Detective had overlooked Harry Lewis's tickets at the initial search and only discovered them the day before he testified (T. 186). The boarding passes were dated and indicated that Mr. Flournoy and Harry Lewis had seats beside one another (T. 186). The attache case was closed (T. 186). A .38 caliber revolver was found behind a bedroom dresser (T. 187). The living room was searched and a burgundy totebag containing a .25 caliber baretta was found (T. 187). Detective Bean advised the Petitioner he was under arrest for possession of heroin and cocaine and asked him if the burgundy totebag was his to which he replied "It's mine" (T. 188). Detective Bean allegedly said, "We have found a tan suitcase, a gray briefcase, and an airline ticket", and Mr. Flournoy allegedly replied, "It's mine" (T. 189). Exhibits 1-11 were then introduced through Detective Bean.

On cross examination, Detective Bean stated he had been with the vice squad for six months (T. 210). Detective Bean had been to the residence twice before the execution of the warrant, and had not seen anyone in the residence (T. 211). No surveillance was done prior to service of the warrant (T. 211). No check of court records, with neighbors or anyone else was attempted to determine who owned the property (T. 211).

The search warrant did not bear the Defendant's name, but was for a single unknown black male (T. 212). Detective McRoy, a very large in statute detective, accompanied Detective Bean to the front door initially (T. 213). Four or five unmarked vehicles arrived at the residence (T. 213). No photographs were ever taken at the residence (T. 214). Detectives Strother, Smith and Mooneyham had initially

gone to the back door simultaneously, with Detective Bean's approach to the front door (T. 215). Detective Bean had approached the front door, announced "Police Officer", and ran through the house after prying the door off. According to him, he accomplished all of this in the same time the other officers were able to walk straight back (T. 217). Detective Bean did not question the two or three other persons in the backyard (T. 218). Detective Bean never questioned one of the black females, Cassandra Gillespie, as to whether she lived at that address (T. 221). He had lost or misplaced or failed to save the burgundy totebag (T. 222). In a previous deposition, he had indicated the bag had been seized and was in the property room (T. 223,224).

An inventory of the search warrant was introduced, and did not reflect the airline ticket bearing the name of Harry Lewis (T. 229). The inventory reflected three straws, though four straws were introduced into evidence (T. 229). Detective Bean who seized all the evidence as the lead detective did not remember seeing a Florida driver's license with Harry Lewis's name on it, though he indicated he would have seized it had it been there (T. 230). Gillespie's driver's license and a work I.D. were seized from her purse located in the bedroom where the drugs were found (T. 230,231). One piece of identification was taken from the Petitioner (T. 231). The inventory listed four personal identifications, though only three were accounted for by Detective Bean (T. 231). The Petitioner's used airline ticket was on top of the closed briefcase (T. 233). Detective Bean never saw anyone in possession of the cocaine (T. When the three persons allegedly exited the bedroom, they 234).

came out together (T. 234). Men and women's clothing was in the bedroom (T. 234). No evidence technician was ever called because according to Detective Bean, his supervisor, Sgt. Phillips, declined Sgt. Phillips never testified at trial (T. 236). recalled the bedroom having a closet area (T. 239). None of the clothing or other personal items in the bedroom was seized or photographed (T. 239). A piece of identification located on the handle of the suitcase was unknown to the detective (T. 240). Detective Bean indicated that he was meticulous in his efforts not to contaminate the evidence with his fingerprints, etc. (T. 242). He never requested that the evidence be processed for fingerprints at the Crime Lab (T. 243). He never interviewed the women to determine if either one lived there, though he considered this important (T. 243). The bedroom where the drugs were found appeared to be shared by a male and a female. Cassandra Gillespie had initially been charged with trafficking in heroin (T. 244). Her identification was found in the room where the drugs were located. Women's clothing was in the room. She was seen exiting the bedroom. In Detective Bean's opinion, however, it was a mistake to charge her with trafficking When the Petitioner allegedly made the statement to Detective Bean, detectives Smith, McRoy, Mooneyham, and Strother were present (T. 247). He never asked the Petitioner if the drugs were his. He never asked him if the briefcase was his. He never asked him if the airline ticket was his (T. 248). The Petitioner's ambiguous statement to the detective "It's mine" was not considered that significant (T. 249). The statement was never reduced to writing, and does not appear in the arrest and booking report

(T.249,256). The Petitioner interrupted Detective Bean several times as the search warrant was being read to indicate that he did not know what was happening, and had no idea what the Detective was doing (T. 257). The Petitioner was never seen in possession of the contents of the bag (T. 257). The suitcase's contents were not visible until it was opened (T. 258). In a deposition, Detective Bean had indicated that he mentioned the suitcase, briefcase, airline ticket and burgundy totebag in the same conversation, and received the answer "It's mine" (T. 259). Detective Bean said that he advised the Petitioner he was under arrest, and "we had found a tan suitcase, a gray briefcase, and an airline ticket with his name on it" The Petitioner replied "It's mine" (T. 261).

Detective E.W. McNeal participated in the execution of the warrant. After approaching the door, he testified he saw the black male exit the bedroom followed by two females (T. 266). He broke the door down, and pursued him into the backyard through the house, and saw three detectives seizing the Petitioner (T. 267). The search warrant was read to all three persons (T. 268). Detective McNeal testified he saw money, powder, and an airline ticket inside the briefcase (T. 269). Detective McNeal recalls seeing three men outside working (T. 271). A Florida driver's license in the name of Lewis was found in the bedroom where the drugs were located (T. 274). This Lewis was an older black male (T. 274). He overheard Cassandra Gillespie say she was living there and it was her purse in the bedroom. She also indicated the clothing in the bedroom was hers (T. 274). He stated Lewis's driver's license should have been seized

(T. 275). The item that appeared to be an airline ticket was located in the briefcase as opposed to the suitcase (T. 276).

Al Marinari, the chemist, testified the weight of the heroin was approximately 13 grams (T. 285,286). The material found on the tray was cocaine (T. 290).

The Defendant presented pursuant to stipulation Exhibit A through C. These consisted of a letter from the Jacksonville Electric Authority, documents from Area Cablevision, and documents from Southern Bell, indicating that the purported owner of the premises where the search was executed was one Harry Lewis.

Freddie Goins, a laborer with Elbert Moment Construction Company, testified he was working at the residence on the date the warrant was executed (T. 315). He was working when individuals with guns drawn came up and said they were police officers, and to freeze "suckers" (T. 315). He was laying a stoop on a back porch of the residence when the officers came up. He and Mr. Moment and a black male named Harry were outside (T. 316). Harry was getting ready to do some plastering work on a back apartment (T. 316). He assumed Harry owned the apartment where the search occurred (T. 316). Harry was fifteen to twenty feet from him. He was described as an older person with grayish hair (T. 317). He was shown a photo of Harry Lewis, and said it looked like him (T. 318). Three white officers came around back (T. 326). A black officer came through the house (T. 326). The actions of the officers scared Mr. Goins (T. 326). He and Mr. Moment were asked to go inside the apartment (T. 327). officers were not readily recognized as officers (T. 326). The Petitioner was taken inside and a larger black officer was punching

him in the ribs while inside (T. 327). Mike, who was identified as the Petitioner, Michael Flournoy, had been in the backyard for thirty to forty minutes standing ten to fifteen feet away from Mr. Goins(T. 328). He had observed two females in the apartment earlier and had seen the slender one there before (T. 330). They were cooking "chili" (chittlings) (T. 330). Mike was outside when the police arrived (T. 33). He had never seen Mike inside the apartment (T. 33). He had seen Harry come out of the apartment a couple of times (T. 331). One of the police officers asked him who Harry was (T. 332). Harry left the area after the officers arrived (T. 333). He left ten to fifteen minutes later (T. 333). He has been convicted of a felony once (T. 334).

Elbert Moment testified he was self-employed in home repair (T. 339). He had been hired to do the work at the West 32nd Street address by Harry Lewis (T. 339). Harry was described by him (T. 340). He stated the officers came around the corner where he and Freddie Goins were working with pistols drawn and frightened them, telling them to freeze (T. 341). He identified the Petitioner as a man who was present approximately fifteen feet away on a sidewalk by the rear apartment (T. 342). He indicated Mr. Flournoy had been outside ten to fifteen minutes talking to them (T. 343). He had never seen him inside the residence where he was taken by the police (T. 343). He observed two females inside cooking at the time (T. 344). Harry disappeared when the police arrived (T. 344). He heard Freddie say the police were whipping Mr. Flournoy and when he went to look, one of the officers dissuaded him (T. 345). The officers came out and asked who Harry was (T. 345). Harry was the owner of the property

(T. 345). He identified Harry Lewis's photo (T. 346). He recollects four officers coming around the corner of the building and one at the back door (T. 348). He testified Harry Lewis was outside ten to fifteen minutes before the police arrived (T. 349).

Detective Bean on rebuttal testified he did not see Detective McRoy strike the Petitioner (T. 438). Detective McNeal also testified to this fact (T. 441). He was not continually in the Petitioner's presence (T. 441). Detective McRoy stated that he was a former football player at Florida A & M. He said he did not strike the Petitioner (T. 445).

Sarah Lewis testified she lived at 1563 West 32nd Street, and was married to Harry Lewis, Sr. (T. 352). She lives next door to the duplex (T. 353). Harry Lewis, Jr. owns the duplex (T. 353). Harry is in his sixties, with grayish hair (T. 354). On the date of the search, she watching television when she heard a commotion and looked outside to see two men holding the Petitioner by the arms and one had a gun to his head (T. 354). The Petitioner was staying at 1563 West 32nd Street with her and her ill husband (T. 355,356). She herself is not in good physical condition, and could not control her husband who is prone to fits of anger and inappropriate behavior (T. 356,357). The Petitioner was staying in the middle bedroom and had brought a green bag with his clothes in it when he arrived (T. 357). When he was released from jail, he came back and got the bag (T. 358). The Petitioner was in Jacksonville at her request (T. 359). The Petitioner had not been seen by her inside the residence next door (T. 360). He son Harry had a girlfriend, Sandy, who lived next door (T. 360). She was sure Harry Lewis, Jr. was in the house next door because it was his house (T. 361). Harry may have been staying next door on April 23, 1985, and may have been in the yard (T. 361, 362). The Petitioner is considered a grandson by her and calls Harry Lewis, Jr., pappa (T. 363). The Petitioner and Harry live in New York (T. 363). The Petitioner had been down a week before his latest arrival and had been called back down by her (T. 364).

Deloris Jenkins testified and she was Harry Lewis's sister (T. 369). She said Harry lived in Brooklyn, New York (T. 370). She knew the Petitioner and he had a wife and son (T. 371). She knew Cassandra Gillespie was Harry's girlfriend, and that she was living at 1571 West 32nd Street, and that her brother, Harry, would stay there when he was in town (T. 371). She spoke with Harry after April 23, 1985, and at his request, went to the apartment and removed some of Harry's belongings (T. 372). She discovered his belongings in the bedroom (T. 372). She saw her brother's sweatsuit, trousers, jeans and some women's clothing and shoes in the room (T. 373). She removed his clothes and some identification she found on the floor, which consisted of a brown wallet, his New York driver's license, credit cards, some Missing was Harry's Florida driver's papers and notes (T. 374). license (T. 374). Cassandra Gillespie was still living in the apartment at the day of the trial (T. 375). She saw the Petitioner the day he was released from jail with his pant's pocket torn and a small bruise which he indicated the police had inflicted (T. 375). She said her father was very senile, and that she and her mother were incapable of caring for him (T. 375). She indicated that Harry Lewis weighed between 270 and 290 lbs., and he is a much bigger man than the Petitioner and they do not wear the same clothing (T. 376).

The State stipulated to a photograph of Harry Lewis, Jr., which was taken in 1972 (T. 390). A further stipulation that a quit claim deed to Harry Lewis, Jr., was entered on January 27, 1985, as to the property located at 1571 West 32nd Street.

John Wilson, a fingerprint expert with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, processed the briefcase, the suitcase, and assorted papers for prints (T. 401). Two latent fingerprints were developed on the briefcase. A latent fingerprint and a latent palmprint were developed on one of the cases that was in the briefcase, and a latent fingerprint was developed on a portion of an airline ticket (T. 402). He compared the prints to Harry Lewis's and the Petitoner's, and there was no match (T. 403).

Linda Hart, a questioned documents expert, testified that she examined a piece of paper found in the identification they attached to the suitcase containing the drugs and other articles and compared it to known samples of the Petitioner's handwriting, and concluded that it was not the Petitioner's handwriting (T. 430).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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