IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL FLOURNOY,

AUG 12 1987 C

\$60 J. Maring

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

vs.

CASE NO. 70,713

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

BRIEF_OF_RESPONDENT_ON_THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROYALL P. TERRY, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0290

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ISSUE V

PETITIONER'S MOTION TO COMPEL IDENTITY OF THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT WAS PROPERLY DENIED. (Restated).

It has been long recognized in state and federal courts that the prosecution is <u>not</u> required to disclose the identity of a confidential informant who merely furnishes the probable cause basis for a search or an arrest. <u>McCray v. Illinois</u>, 386 U.S. 300, 87 S.Ct. 1056, 18 L.Ed.2d 62, <u>rev. denied</u>, 386 U.S. 1042, 87 S.Ct. 1474, 18 L.Ed.2d 616 (1967); <u>State v. Matney</u>, 236 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970); <u>State v. Martinez</u>, 381 So.2d 1183 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); <u>State v. Katz</u>, 295 So.2d 356 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974); Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.220(c)(2). The fact that the informant provided good cause for the defendant's arrest is not enough to overcome the privilege of nondisclosure. <u>State v. Acosta</u>, 439 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); <u>State v. Kirksey</u>, 418 So.2d 1152, 1153 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

Even when a confidential informant is integrally involved in a criminal episode, either by purchasing or witnessing a drug transaction, the defense bears a heavy burden to come within an exception to the general rule of nondisclosure. Hawkins v.

State, 312 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975); Treverrow v. State, 194

So.2d 250 (Fla. 1967); Rule 3.220(c)(2), Fla.R.Crim.P. The relevant factors in this regard include: whether the defendant was an active participant in the offense; the possible

significance of the informant's testimony; and whether it is necessary for the prosecutor to refer to the informant in its case in chief.

In the instant case, the informant provided only a tip as to the specific address where a black male from New York was selling large amounts of heroin which the informant had personally observed. A neutral magistrate determined there was sufficient probable cause for issuance of a search warrant. Thus the confidential informant only provided the basis for probable cause and his or her identity is not subject to disclosure. See, McCray v. Illinois; State v. Matney, supra.

Petitioner argues it was necessary to reveal the identity of the informant in order to determine the identity of the black male who the informant observed selling heroin. PB at 39; (T 36-40). What the informant observed at a prior time was of no moment to the state's case against petitioner. Petitioner was charged with trafficking in heroin on a constructive possession theory. (R 10; T 42). The search warrant was issued upon probable cause. Petitioner was present on the premises named when the warrant was executed. Contraband narcotics were found on the premises—in a suitcase containing an airline ticket bearing petitioner's name and of which Petitioner claimed possession. (T 42).

Petitioner's allegation that the identity of the informant had been revealed and comparison to "an identical situation" in Mr. Robbins' case is a reference to <u>State v. Angeloff</u>, 474 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). The First District the "disclosure" allegation in <u>Angeloff</u>. Petitioner's contention is equally without merit. (T 45-47).

ISSUE VI

PETITIONER'S MOTION IN LIMINE WAS MERITLESS AND THEREFORE PROPERLY DENIED. (Restated).

Petitioner sought by pretrial motion to exclude testimony concerning firearms seized during execution of the search warrant. (R 101). A 30.06 rifle was found on the bed next to the suitcase containing \$23,000.00 in cash and 22 packets of heroin. (T 268-269, 192-193, 184-185). A .38 caliber revolver was found behind the dresser in the bedroom, (T 186, 268), and a .25 caliber Beretta automatic pistol was found inside a burgundy tote bag. Id., (T 270).

Petitioner argued the evidence was not relevant to any of the charges against him. (R 101, T 54-58).

The trial court did not believe that possession of a weapon was in and of itself prejudicial. (T 56). However, there is no question that the evidence was relevant. As petitioner has argued under Point IV, <u>supra</u>, the State was required to prove possession and scienter to show that petitioner knowingly and intentionally trafficked in heroin. <u>State v. Ryan; State v. Medlin, supra.</u> The presence of firearms, especially in light of the proximity to the heroin, was highly probative evidence of the act as well as the intent to commit the act.

An individual's intent is not usually subject to direct proof, but must be inferred from the acts of the parties and the surrounding circumstances. Booker v. State, 397 So.2d 910, 915 (Fla. 1981); State v. Norris, 384 So.2d 298 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); O'Brien v. State, 327 So.2d 237 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); T.G.B. v. State, 405 So.2d 427 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); Pack v. State, 381 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980); Edwards v. State, 302 So.2d 479 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974). Intent, being a state of mind, is a question for the trier of fact. State v. Norris, supra; State v. West, 262 So.2d 457 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972).

Thus the firearm seized at the time of the search and arrest for drug trafficking was obviously relevant and material to what was in the mind of petitioner and his co-conspirators. The state would have been severely hindered in presenting its case had the firearm evidence been excluded. This prejudice is apparent by the defendant's under Point IV. Furthermore, since the jury is the ultimate decider of fact, it would be unrealistic to expect intelligent evaluation of the facts without providing full evidence of what actually transpired.

ISSUE VII

THE TRIAL COURT NEITHER EXPRESSED A PERSONAL OPINION AS TO PETITIONER'S GUILT NOR COMMENTED ON PETITIONER'S FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHT NOT TO TESTIFY. (Restated).

It is well settled that a trial court must avoid expression of opinion on the credibility of witnesses or on the guilt of the accused. §90.106, Fla. Stat; See also, Marr v. State, 470 So.2d 703, 712 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (on rehearing en banc); Millet v. State, 460 So.2d 489 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). However, the allegations in brief do not hold up under review of the record for it is equally well-established that a defendant may not invite error and then seek reversal based on that error. Gagnon v. State, 212 So.2d 337 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968); Jackson v. State, 359 So.2d 1190, 1193-1194 (Fla. 1978) cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1102 (1979).

The record reflects that at the time of the comment, the trial court was concerned with clarifying a defense misleading question. Petitioner's request for a mistrial acknowledged the court's comments were "not intended, but could have been interpreted by the jury. . . "in a detrimental manner." (T 93-94). Speculation is never an appropriate ground upon which to base a mistrial. A mistrial is appropriate only when the error committed is so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. Cobb v. State, 376 So.2d 230, 232 (Fla. 1979); Perry v. State, 146 Fla. 187, 200 So. 25 (1941).

Moreover, Florida law clearly states that a motion for mistrial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d 745, 750 (Fla. 1979). Also well established and relied upon is the rule that the power to declare a mistrial and discharge a jury should be exercised with great care and caution and should occur only in cases of absolute necessity. Id. at 750. Flowers v. State, 351 So.2d 764 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). Fundamental prejudicial error to defendant's right to a fair trial must be clearly evident to warrant declaration of a new trial at a latter date. Sykes v. State, 329 So.2d 356, 359 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), Preston v. State, 342 So.2d 852 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977).

The state submits that the portions of the record challenged herein did not warrant a mistrial. At none of these challenged points, did petitioner request a cautionary instruction for the jury. Under these circumstances, a mistrial, the most extreme remedy possible, was not required.

Petitioner is incorrect in stating that the harmless error doctrine does not apply to comments "fairly susceptible" of interpretation as comments on a defendant's right to silence. First, the state submits that the instant comment is not so susceptible. State v. Rowell, 476 So.2d 149 (Fla. 1985). Second, the state submits, the harmless error doctrine applies. State v. DiGuilio, 451 So.2d 487 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), approved

<u>and remanded</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986) <u>State v. Kinchen</u>, 432 So.2d 586 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), <u>quashed</u>, 490 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1985) <u>State v. Marshall</u>, 476 So.2d 149 (Fla. 1985)

ISSUE VIII

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO DISMISS JUROR ZIPPERER FOR CAUSE.

The issue presented is whether the trial court committed reversible error by not excusing a juror for cause. §913.03(10), Fla. Stat., permits a challenge of a prospective juror for cause where the juror's state of mind, impression or opinion would prevent his acting with impartiality. The constitutional standard of fairness requires that a defendant have a "panel of impartial, 'indifferent' jurors" Irwin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 722 (1961).

The test to be utilized by the judge in determining whether a juror is competent is not whether he or she will be able to control any bias or prejudice, but rather, whether the juror may lay aside those considerations and render a verdict solely upon the evidence presented and the instructions on the law given by the trial court. <u>Lusk v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1984); <u>Leon v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 203, 205 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) rehearing denied; <u>Singer v. State</u>, 109 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1959).

McCullers v. State, 145 So.2d 909 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962) <u>cert.</u>

dismissed, 155 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1963).

In <u>Singer v. State</u>, this court held that where there is any reasonable doubt as to a juror possessing the requisite state of mind required to render an impartial verdict, the juror should be

excused. Leon v. State; Singer v. State, supra. Petitioner maintains that the responses of the juror were not sufficient to alleviate doubt as to her ability to fairly weigh the testimony of witnesses presented at trial. The trial judge did not agree.

In <u>Singer</u>, this court specifically stated:

We think the true test to be applied should be not whether the juror will yield his opinion, bias or prejudice to the evidence, but should be that whether he is free of such opinion, prejudice or bias or whether he is infected by opinion, bias or prejudice, he will, nevertheless, be able to put such completely out of his mind and base his verdict only upon evidence given at the trial.

Id. at 24. The Supreme Court of the United States revisited exclusion of jurors opposed to capital punishment, stating the proper standard is whether the juror's views would "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his oath". Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412 (1985) quoting Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38 (1980). The new standard does not require that a juror's bias be proved with "unmistakable clarity". Further it does not require that determinations of juror bias be reduced to question and answer sessions which obtain results in the manner of a catechism. Id.

In <u>Hawthorne v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), the court held that the question of whether to excuse a prospective juror for cause is a mixed question of law and

fact. See also Singer, supra at 22; Blackwell v. State, 132 So. 468 (1931). As such, the decision is within the discretion of the trial judge and his ruling will not be set aside unless error is manifest. Hawthorne, supra at 1089; Singer. supra at 22; Ashley v. State, 370 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). Deference must be paid to the trial judge who sees and hears the juror. Wainwright v. Witt, supra.

In concluding that juror Zipperer was not biased, the trial court relied upon it's own questioning of the juror, concerning her statement:

MR. WILLIAMS: You would give their [police officers] testimony greater weight than testimony of ordinary citizens?

THE COURT: I think we need to clarify that, because you said some people.

Jurors are required to evaluate, in their own minds, credibility of witnesses testifying at any trial.

Jurors are to disbelieve or believe the testimony of any and all witnesses, that is one of the functions of a juror, to judge, in their own mind, the credibility of witnesses involved in this case.

Now, you might have Defendants, you might have police officers and you might have bankers or judges, or you might have lawyers that are testifying. You might have anybody testifying. Okay?

Is it your statement that you would tend to believe a police officer more or attach greater credibility to their testimony only because he is a police officer?
A VENIREMAN: No.

THE COURT: In other words, the mere fact that he is a police officer, you would tend to believe him more than anybody else?

A VENIREMAN: No.

(T 86).

Conduct of a juror is a responsibility of the trial judge and discretion is allowed in dealing with any problems which arise. The overriding duty of the court is to insure that a defendant receives a fair and impartial trial. Orosz v. State, 389 So.2d 1199, 1200 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). Here, there was ample indication that the juror did not have a state of mind which would prevent her from acting impartially. The trial judge acted properly in ensuring the fairest and most impartial trial possible. Petitioner has not met his burden of showing an abuse of judicial discretion. William v. State, 386 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1980). (T 76).

Alternatively, we submit that if error occurred it was harmless. Juror Zipperer was struck by the defense with its third peremptory challenge. (T 106, 105-107). Petitioner did request additional challenges, but it is obvious from the discussion on the record that the rapid use of all defense peremptory challenges was attributable to the decisions being made by petitioner, not counsel. (T 110, 105-111). Accordingly, reversible error has not been demonstrated and petitioner's conviction should be affirmed.

ISSUE IX

THE PROSECUTOR'S COMMENTS IN CLOSING WERE NOT IMPROPER, AND A MISTRIAL WAS NOT REQUIRED. (Restated).

Petitioner's last point seeks reversal based upon certain comments of the prosecutor in closing which allegedly voice personal opinion and comment upon the accused's right to silence. PB at 47. Considerable latitude is allowed a prosecutor in closing argument and logical inferences based on the record are permissible. Thomas v. State, 326 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1975);

Paramore v. State, 229 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1969) modified, 408 U.S. 935 (1972); Gosney v. State, 382 So.2d 413 (Fla. 5th DCA 1976). Furthermore, it is a well-established legal principle that isolated portions of argument cannot be reviewed except within the total context. Wingate v. State, 232 So.2d 44, 45 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974).

The prosecutor's comment concerning the "big time" operation was directly related to the evidence presented at trial: \$23,000, 22 packets of heroin, 3 firearms, tickets to New York and other drugs, as well as in response to comments of defense counsel concerning ineffective investigation to police. The defense cannot invite error and then seek reversal based on that error.

Jackson v. State, supra; Holmes v. State, 374 So.2d 944 (Fla. 1979). It is apparent from review of the record that the prosecutor's reference were invited by defense counsel. When

this concept is considered in conjunction with the latitude afforded counsel in argument, the state submits that reversible error did not occur. See, State v. Melton, 424 So.2d 137, 138 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

The foregoing is equally true of the comments allegedly suceptible as comments upon the defendant's failure to testify which were instead comments emphasizing the testimony of the detectives which petitioner attempts to interpret as comments on silence. (T 532). The state defers to the record and submits that error did not occur. State v. Shepard, 479 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1985). Alternatively, if error occurred, it certainly did not approach the egregious level which would entitle reversal.

Juries are composed of men of sound judgment and intelligence. At least so the law requires, and it is not to be presumed that they are led astray to wrongful verdicts by impassioned eloquence and illogical pathos of counsel.

<u>Johnson v. State</u>, 449 So.2d 921 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) quoting <u>Tyson v. State</u>, 87 Fla. 392, 100 So. 254, 255 (1924). The state submits that any error present is harmless and reversal is not required. <u>Melton v. State</u>, 420 So.2d 30 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court affirm the lower court's opinion in the matter sub judice.